# **Graduate Student Policies and Procedures**



# Department of Biochemistry, Microbiology and Immunology

**University of Saskatchewan** 

November 2024

**Graduate Chair**Dr. Scot Stone
<a href="mailto:scot.stone@usask.ca">scot.stone@usask.ca</a>

Graduate Administrative Assistant Peggy Naughton bmi.grad@usask.ca

## **Table of Contents**

1. Introduction	1
2. Application and admission	1
A. Eligibility	1
B. How to apply	1
3. Graduate program	2
A. Minimum requirements	2
B. Duration	5
C. Teaching	5
D. Ph.D. candidacy assessment and transfer from the M.Sc. to Ph.D. program	5
E. Preparation of thesis and thesis defense	8
4. Administration of the program	9
A. Departmental Graduate Affairs Committee	9
B. Supervisor	9
C. Advisory committee	9
D. Student/supervisor agreement	10
E. Vacation	10
5. Financing graduate school	10
A. Source of funding	10
B. Travel funds	12
6 BMI Graduate Application Checklist	12

## 1. Introduction

The Department of Biochemistry, Microbiology and Immunology (BMI) offers both M.Sc. and Ph.D. programs. The purpose of this manual is to provide additional information concerning these programs which may not be available on the College of Graduate and Postdoctoral studies (CGPS) website: <a href="https://cgps.usask.ca/policy-and-procedure/index.php">https://cgps.usask.ca/policy-and-procedure/index.php</a> or the Departmental website: <a href="https://medicine.usask.ca/students/graduate-programs/biochemistry-microbiology-and-immunology.php">https://medicine.usask.ca/students/graduate-programs/biochemistry-microbiology-and-immunology.php</a>.

## 2. Application and admission

Prospective students interested in pursuing graduate programs in BMI can learn about the department, its research activities, and the availability of opportunities by visiting its website at <a href="https://medicine.usask.ca/bmi/index.php">https://medicine.usask.ca/bmi/index.php</a>. This site also provides a list of "research-active" faculty.

## A. Eligibility

M.Sc. admission requires a Baccalaureate (or equivalent) from a college or university of acceptable standing, and equivalent to the degree at this university with a specialization in biochemistry, microbiology and/or immunology, or a related discipline. A cumulative weighted average of at least 75% (U of S grade system equivalent) is the minimum standard. Students with a lower average may be accepted under exceptional circumstances.

Ph.D. admission requires a Master's degree, or equivalent, from a recognized university in an academic discipline relevant to the proposed field and a cumulative weighted average of at least 80% (U of S grade system equivalent). In order to assess the quality of the student's M.Sc. degree, the BMI Graduate Affairs Committee will review the thesis and/or any published papers. If the M.Sc. is not deemed to be equivalent, then the applicant must enroll as a M.Sc. student and take the Ph.D. Candidacy Assessment within the first 2 years (see regulations for this below).

If English is not your native language, you must arrange for a certified result of the "Test of English as a Foreign Language" (TOEFL) or International English Learning Test Score (IELTS) to be sent directly to us. Note that our department requires a minimum TOEFL score of 90 (with a minimum of 20 in **each** area) or an overall IELTS score of 6.5 (with a minimum of 6.5 in **each** area). For those who are unable to get access to TOEFL or IELTS exams, alternative English language exams recognized by the CGPS are acceptable. Please visit <a href="https://grad.usask.ca/admissions/ad

requirements.php#Englishlanguageproficiencyrequirements for more information.

## B. How to apply

- 1. If you intend to apply to the BMI graduate program, it is required that you first find a faculty member in our department who will agree in advance to being your research supervisor (assuming that all other conditions are met). Please contact those individuals whose research you find interesting. There is no set application deadline and applications can be made at any time.
- 2. Once you have identified a faculty member who has agreed to be your supervisor, you will have to formally apply to the graduate program through the CGPS (https://grad.usask.ca/admissions/how-to-apply.php). The graduate studies application fee is

\$120 CDN and is NOT refundable. Completion of CGPS's online application form requires that original academic transcripts and formal proof of English proficiency be provided. You must also arrange for three letters of recommendation to be submitted. Two of your referees must be academic contacts, and the third may be academic or professional.

3. Once the BMI Department has recommended admission to CGPS, the CGPS will need to approve the admission and issue an offer of admission before you can begin your studies.

Although students may apply to enter our graduate program at any time, the university calendar year begins in September and graduate classes are offered either in September (Term 1) or in January (Term 2). The first round of the Dean's Scholarship is due on December 1<sup>st</sup> but in any event, complete applications must be received by February 1 in order to be considered for scholarship funding beginning the following September. North American applicants should apply a minimum of 4 months prior to anticipated start date. Due to visa processing, international applicants should apply a minimum of 6 months prior to your anticipated start date.

## 3. Graduate program

## A. Minimum program requirements

New students in consultation with their supervisor will prepare a research proposal that needs to be approved by their graduate advisory committee. Students will have a brief 30 minute "meet and greet" meeting with their advisory committee approximately 6 weeks after starting their graduate program. The student and supervisor will briefly introduce the proposed project topic to the committee. A presentation is not required unless the student and supervisor feel it is needed to explain the project. Potential courses will also be discussed and approved. It is advised that the student and supervisor read the graduate student handbook in preparation for this meeting. Any arising questions on the process will be discussed. From this date, students will then have 6 months to submit their project proposal to their advisory committee. A meeting to approve the project proposal and establish a Program of Studies will be held approximately 2 weeks later. (Guidelines for preparation of the project proposal are in the BMI SharePoint site). Approximate timelines are provided in the following table:

	Start in Graduate Program		
	January	May	September
Meet & Greet (6 weeks after start in graduate program)	mid-Feb	mid-June	mid-Oct
Submit project proposal (6 months after meet & greet)	mid-Aug	mid-Dec	mid-April
Proposal approval meeting (2 weeks after proposal submission)	Sep	Jan	May
Next meeting after project proposal approval	Following May	Following June	Following Nov

For both M.Sc. and Ph.D. programs the major requirement for continuation in the program is demonstration of satisfactory progress in all components. This includes progress in course work, research, written and oral presentation skills, and thesis writing. If, at any time, the supervisor, committee chair or any other member of the student's advisory committee has reason to believe that progress is not satisfactory then a committee meeting should be called immediately to discuss and address the issue(s).

<u>Course work:</u> For the M.Sc. program the student must take 9 credit units consisting of graduate level (800) courses. The graduate student must maintain a 70% cumulative grade point average, with no individual mark being below 60%. The committee may recommend additional courses at any level in order to bolster a student's knowledge in perceived areas of weakness and/or to complement the research program.

For Ph.D. students, no graduate level (800) courses are required. In some cases, additional courses may be recommended by the student's committee to bolster a student's knowledge in perceived areas of weakness and/or to complement the research program. It also may be beneficial for students to take several 800 level courses to increase their chances of being awarded scholarships but a cumulative GPA of 80% is required with no individual mark being below 70%.

A student failing a graduate course is not necessarily a case for the student to be required to discontinue. If the student does not receive a passing grade, the student can retake the course, or a different one, with the approval of their advisory committee. However, failing the course paired with unsatisfactory progress does qualify as a case for requirement to discontinue. This must be discussed by the student's advisory committee.

Graduate Student seminars: Graduate students are required to present one seminar each year on their research progress as part of a graduate seminar course (BMI 990). Yearly registration and attendance in BMIS 990 is required throughout the graduate program. Graduate students are also expected to present a poster of their research at the annual BMI Poster Day, typically held in the spring.

BMI hosts weekly research presentations by faculty, including members from USask and external speakers. Although these seminars are not a mandatory part of the graduate program, it is highly recommended for students to attend to broaden and deepen their knowledge.

<u>Research progress:</u> Progress in research will be assessed by the graduate student's advisory committee annually on the basis of a short but formal presentation (no longer than 20 minutes) and by a progress report submitted to the advisory committee. The written report should contain a brief overview of relevant background, hypotheses, objectives, experimental methods, results and future plans. A list of references is required. The report should also include a list of courses completed and those remaining to be taken, and achievements (e.g., publications, conferences and awards) during the past year.

The students should address the questions raised in previous meeting(s) in their progress report. It is the responsibility of the supervisor to make sure that the questions previously raised have been addressed. (A section "issues to be addressed prior to next meeting" will be added to the minutes to help address this problem)

Please remember to follow the guidelines for preparation of the progress report. The report is not supposed to be a mini thesis so the introduction should be brief (maximum 4 pages, 1.5 spacing). The committee is trying to assess the progress in the last year so it is helpful to start

the results with a brief overview of the previous results. Please make it absolutely clear which are the new results.

The progress report should be submitted to the supervisor in early April at least 3 weeks before the meeting date for a thorough review and suggested revisions should be made before it is submitted to the student's advisory committee. The student will be responsible for submitting the report to the members of the committee at least 7 days before the meeting date. If the guidelines are not followed, the progress report will be returned to the student for revisions and the meeting will be rescheduled. The main committee meeting will usually be held in May (1.5 hours).

In addition, there will be a second shorter meeting in November (1 hour). The graduate student will deliver a short PowerPoint presentation (about 15 min), a copy of which should be distributed to the committee 1 week prior to the meeting, along with the student's most recent progress report and meeting minutes. The PowerPoint presentation should be reviewed by the student's supervisor but does not need to be approved by the Advisory Committee Chair. The presentation requires only the briefest of introductions and summary of previous results so that the focus can be on the results obtained since the May meeting. If appropriate, a timeline for completion can be included at the end. If needed, a full written report/meeting can be requested at the discretion of the Chair/supervisor.

<u>Presentation skills:</u> Oral communication skills will be assessed on the basis of the talks to the committee as well as the formal seminar presentations. Written communication skills will be assessed on the quality of the initial proposal and the subsequent progress reports. If required, the committee should expect to see a significant improvement in both oral and written abilities as the student progresses through their graduate program. (Note: Many language courses are available on campus particularly for international students. The student's advisory committee should recommend these when deficiencies are encountered. Information can be found at <a href="https://students.usask.ca/international/#InternationalStudentandStudyAbroadCentre">https://students.usask.ca/international/#InternationalStudentandStudyAbroadCentre</a>).

Student progress with respect to course requirements and other exams will be discussed during the meeting. At the end of the meeting, the student will be asked to leave the room for the advisory committee to discuss relevant issues. Upon their return to the meeting room, relevant issues will be discussed with the student. The Chair of the committee will provide a written report of the meeting to be sent to the Committee members for review, then the Graduate Secretary for data entry, submission to CGPS and filing. If necessary, the Chair may delegate a committee member to take scientific minutes to be communicated to both Committee members and the student. The written minutes of the meeting will be made available to the Supervisor, Grad Chair and the graduate student through PAWS (online).

<u>Thesis writing</u> (See SharePoint guidelines and section 3E below) - When the student has finished or nearly finished their research, an Advisory Committee meeting will be held at which the student will present major experimental data to be included in the thesis along with a draft Abstract and Table of Contents to the committee members. The committee members will discuss the proposed thesis content and indicate their approval for the preparation of the thesis. This committee meeting can be independent of the student's mandatory annual committee meeting, although it may take place concurrently. (If deemed reasonable the discussion can also take place by email). Three possible outcomes may arise from this meeting:

- 1. The student is given unconditional permission to write thesis with no more lab work required.
- 2. The student is given permission to write thesis pending completion of certain set(s) of experimental data.
- 3. The content is deemed insufficient for writing the thesis and additional experimental data are required for the Committee to review the progress.

Thesis writing timelines: Satisfactory progress in thesis writing is considered as a component of a student's graduate program. All BMI graduate students are expected to complete a draft of their thesis that is suitable for review by their advisory committee within four months of receiving permission to begin writing. The supervisor is responsible for overseeing the student's progress, setting reasonable milestones and deadlines in collaboration with the student, and addressing any delays or challenges. If the thesis draft is not completed within the four-month timeframe, students may request a two-month extension by submitting a valid reason for the delay to their advisory committee for approval. Should the thesis still be incomplete after the extension, the advisory committee will meet to discuss the reasons for the student's lack of progress. If the reasons for delay are deemed unacceptable, the advisory committee may recommend that the supervisor terminate the student's stipend.

Students should understand that the thesis must be approved, first by the supervisor, second by the advisory committee chair and finally by the committee before being sent to the external examiner. Each step takes time, usually a minimum of three weeks, and revisions may be required at each step. Even after the thesis defense, major revisions may be required. Therefore, PLEASE allow 3-4 months after submission of the thesis to the supervisor before accepting another appointment or leaving the country! Once a student has begun writing the thesis, it is in the student's, as well as the department's best interests, that the writing and defense proceed efficiently. Recognizing that the mode of interactions between supervisors and students varies considerably, the following guidelines are expected to be adhered to once a complete draft of the thesis is in the hands of the supervisor.

- Review of a first complete draft by the supervisor; four weeks.
- Review of thesis by the Advisory Committee; three weeks.
- Review of revised thesis by the Advisory Committee; two weeks (optional)
- Review by the External examiner; three weeks (M.Sc.) or six weeks (Ph.D)

Students should take account of these timelines when planning the final preparation and defense of their thesis. For example, once the thesis draft is ready for submission to the Advisory Committee, the student can expect a time lag of 8 to 10 weeks before the date of the defense, the last four weeks being required for the reading of the thesis by the external examiner for M.Sc. and Ph.D. theses respectively.

### **B.** Duration

In general, it is expected that a M.Sc. should be completed in 2.5 to 3 years, with a maximum length in program of 4 years. For completion of a Ph.D. the time frame is longer, between 4.5 to a maximum of 6 years. The academic unit has the authority to approve one extension to time in program of up to 12 months/three academic terms for graduate students. If program requirements are still incomplete by the end of the first extension, a request may be submitted to the Dean of CGPS for one (master's) or two (doctoral) additional extensions of up

to 12-months/three academic terms each. Employment is no longer disqualified from being part of the rationale for requesting a time in program extension. Students can request a leave of absence due to health or compassionate reasons. It is important to make arrangements with your supervisor and chair of the advisory committee well in advance if possible. The CGPS also has to approve all leaves.

## C. Teaching

All students are encouraged to obtain as much teaching experience as possible. As part of their graduate program, all students are required to demonstrate in BMI undergraduate courses, both in-person or online. All students without external funding are expected to contribute up to 120 hours of teaching assistance. Students with a partial scholarship (e.g. CoMGrad) have to do up to 60 hours and students with full scholarship (e.g. NSERC) have to do up to 40 hours of teaching assistance. Teaching assistants are paid for the hours that they contribute to teaching, in accordance with the PSAC collective agreement. This will reduce the supervisors' contribution to their student's stipend. Any amount above these hours would be a stipend paid to the student but requires mutual agreement between the supervisor and student. It is expected that time spent teaching/demonstrating will not come at the expense of the student's research.

## D. Ph.D. candidacy assessment and transfer from the M.Sc. to Ph.D. program

The Doctoral Candidacy Assessment requirements for new (starting May 1, 2024) Ph.D. students in Biochemistry, Microbiology and Immunology are below. Students who began their program prior to this date have the option to adopt this new Candidacy Assessment format or the previous Comprehensive Exam formats.

The purpose of the candidacy assessment is for doctoral students to demonstrate that they have:

- 1. an adequate grasp of the current state of knowledge in the intended field of research;
- 2. the potential to conduct advanced original research independently using relevant methodologies;
- 3. the ability to communicate in ways appropriate to their field of research and practice (and, if applicable, other knowledge or skill requirements for the discipline).

The Candidacy Assessment must be completed no later than 24 months after the initial registration of the student in the Ph.D. program. The student's Advisory Committee shall inform the student in writing at least 60 days in advance that the Candidacy Assessment is to take place.

Transfer from the M.Sc. to Ph.D. program: Some students in the M.Sc. program may seek permission from their supervisor and Advisory Committee to transfer to the Ph.D. program before completing the requirements of the M.Sc. program, and without preparing and defending a M.Sc. thesis. In this case, transfer to the Ph.D. program and advancing to candidacy are achieved at the same time through the Candidacy Assessment. This option is normally reserved for students who are doing very well in the M.Sc. program as evidenced by a well-developed research project that can form the basis for a Ph.D. program. These students would have demonstrated potential for success at the Ph.D. level through above average written and oral communication and critical thinking skills. M.Sc. students must have completed at least 9 credits of graduate coursework, have a grade point average of 80% or higher with no mark below 70%.

The formal request to transfer to the Ph.D. program should be made to the student's advisory committee chair no later than 18 months after beginning their M.Sc. program. Approval from the advisory committee to initiate the transfer process may be obtained via email, but a meeting can also be held to discuss. Students must complete all Ph.D. transfer requirements and the Candidacy Assessment before the end of their second year. M.Sc. students who have been in the program more than two years will not be permitted to transfer to the Ph.D.

The Candidacy Assessment will include the cognate member of the student's advisory committee, pending their approval by the graduate affairs committee. If the student does not successfully transfer to the Ph.D. program, the cognate member is not required as part of the student's MSc program but may be retained at the discretion of the student's advisory committee.

## Format: Preparation of the research grant proposal and oral defense

The Candidacy Assessment consists of a written component and an oral exam.

## 1. Written component:

The student will be required to prepare a research grant application. The proposal can be related to the student's thesis work but should be a different or a parallel project and not simply extra objectives added on to the student's current project. Students should identify gaps in their field and ask the appropriate questions to address the gap. The proposal must include the student's own thoughts and ideas but can have some overlap with research themes, technologies/methodologies from the supervisor's lab. This will allow the student to draw on some of their own lab experience to aid in the development of the proposal. The grant topic must be approved by the student's advisory committee and the Graduate Chair. Once approved, the student will have 4 weeks to prepare and submit the grant proposal to their advisory committee. The student's supervisor or other faculty members should not be directly involved in contributing intellectual content to the grant. However, they can provide guidance regarding the grant writing process.

## Guidelines for the preparation of the grant proposal

The entire length of the grant proposal, including figures, is not to exceed 10 pages in length (single-spaced, 12-point Times New Roman font, 2 cm margins). References do not count towards the page limit. The project title will appear at the top of each page in addition to a page number at the bottom of each page. Organize your proposal with appropriate numerical headings and sub-headings. For example, Aim 1 may be followed by experimental approaches 1.1 and 1.2. The proposal will consist of the following sections:

#### 1. **Introduction** (3-4 pages):

Significance and Impact (2 paragraphs) – This section should adequately summarize the current state of the field and the significance/impact of the proposed research. It should also include the central hypothesis and the experimental strategy that will be used to test it. It should be briefly stated why information obtained in the study is important or how it will be used (i.e. knowledge obtained will facilitate the design of a new therapy). Lastly, the research aims that will be used to test the hypothesis should be listed.

- Background information of specific topic areas of the proposed research area –
   Each topic should be directly related to giving relevant background information on a specific research aim and identify knowledge gaps.
- 2. Research design and methods This section should contain 2-4 experimental aims. Each aim should start with a one-sentence descriptive title that accurately summarizes the proposed research and a brief introductory paragraph containing sufficient background information and the rationale for what is being done and why. The specific hypothesis for each aim should also be stated. Experimental approaches should be described in adequate detail and include proper controls. A brief discussion of expected outcomes and follow-up experiments should be included. Alternate experiments/approaches should also be proposed in the event that experiments don't work as expected.
- 3. **Conclusions** The proposal should conclude with a brief paragraph summarizing the overall goals of the proposed research and highlighting its potential usefulness and impact.
- 4. **References** References should be cited in-text by author last name and the year of the publication using the Molecular Biology of the Cell format. For the bibliography, references should be listed in alphabetical order of the authors. See *Guidelines for the preparation of a thesis* for specific formatting instructions for references.
- 5. **Budget** not required

#### 2. Oral exam:

The oral exam will be held approximately 5 business days after the grant proposal was submitted to the advisory committee. At the onset of the exam, the student will give a 15–20 minute presentation of the grant proposal. After the presentation, members of the Advisory Committee will assess several aspects of the student's knowledge including, but not limited to: background information, proposed hypotheses, experimental design, methodology, feasibility.

The outcome of the Doctoral Candidacy Assessment is either satisfactory or unsatisfactory. A student that successfully completes the Candidacy Assessment is deemed a doctoral candidate (e.g., Ph.D. Candidate). The student's official transcript will note the date when the candidacy assessment was satisfied.

A student who does not satisfy the requirements of their candidacy assessment is permitted a second attempt at the recommendation of the academic unit and with the permission of the Dean of CGPS or designate. The second attempt should be scheduled from one to three months from the date of first assessment; exceptions will be considered by the Dean of CGPS or designate. A second unsatisfactory outcome will automatically result in a requirement to discontinue from the doctoral program. Both a second failure and/or denial of a second attempt at the Candidacy Assessment may be appealed to the Graduate Academic Affairs Committee of the CGPS on substantive grounds.

**E. Preparation of thesis and thesis defense** (See "Progress in thesis" for timeline and guidelines); When a student and his or her Supervisor believe that the research work is complete, the student must ask the Advisory Committee for permission to write a thesis. This request can be made at any time. A table of contents together with an abstract must be sent to the advisory committee for approval. The Advisory Committee must satisfy itself that the quantity and quality of the research is adequate, and that the student has a good grasp of his or her own work in relation to the existing knowledge base in the area of specialization. For the Ph.D. degree, the student should have published at least one substantive first author paper directly connected to the major focus of the thesis work. If no papers have been published, the student and supervisor must provide the advisory committee with clear evidence that there is a path to publication in the near future i.e., a submitted paper or a preprint in BioRxiv.

The Advisory Committee will either grant permission to stop research and concentrate on data analysis and thesis preparation or specify additional research work that must be carried out.

Theses may be produced in either the traditional "chapter" style or the "manuscript" style, which consists of a manuscript, or cohesive series of manuscripts, written in a style suitable for publication in appropriate venues. If the manuscript format is used, transition chapters need to be added in between the manuscripts (as required by CGPS).

A final oral defense of the M.Sc. thesis will be conducted with an Examining Committee that includes the members of the Advisory Committee plus an "External Examiner" that may be from within or outside the department but should not have been directly involved in the student's thesis research and is approved beforehand by the Graduate Chair. The Examining Committee for a M.Sc. defense will be chaired by the Chair of the graduate student's Advisory Committee.

A final oral defense of the Ph.D. thesis will be conducted with an Examining Committee that will consist of the advisory committee Chair (non-voting), supervisor, committee members including the cognate member, the university examiner and the external examiner. The university examiner must have an "arm's length" relationship with the thesis research but can be from BMI. The university examiner will be approved by the student's advisory committee. For students that began their program prior to May 1, 2022, the University Examiner is an optional member of the examining committee where the examining committee chair, the supervisor and all members of the advisory committee and external examiner would equal at least six members. The external examiner will have an "arm's-length" relationship with the student, the supervisor and members of the advisory committee and will be approved by the Associate Dean, CGPS.

Both the M.Sc. and Ph.D. thesis defense are in the form of an oral examination that is typically about 2-3 hours in length. Immediately before the oral thesis defense, the student will present a 45-minute open seminar on the thesis work, to satisfy the final requirements for BMI 990. The seminar is followed by a closed question and answer defense of the thesis work.

## 4. Administration of the program

## A. Departmental Graduate Affairs committee

The general functions of the Graduate Affairs Committee of the Department of BMI are to administer the graduate programs, to ensure that each graduate student fulfills the requirements necessary for an advanced degree in BMI, and to ensure that the standards of the Departmental graduate program are maintained.

## **B.** Supervisor

The supervisor is the faculty member directly responsible for overseeing your research. The selection of a supervisor should be completed by mutual agreement among student, supervisor and the Department. The supervisor must be a faculty member of the CGPS and should be familiar with the rules and procedures of the department, the CGPS and those of the university. Both student and supervisor are responsible for ensuring that all CGPS and departmental regulations and requirements are observed and met.

## C. Advisory committee

The Advisory Committee for each graduate student functions to approve the Program of Study (course work and research program) as well as to ensure that the student satisfies all of the requirements of the Graduate Program in BMI. Major changes in the student's program requires the approval of the Advisory Committee. The Advisory Committee also provides a source of information and counsel for graduate students. In this way, the graduate student will be exposed to a variety of opinions and ideas and can obtain help from individuals with particular expertise required for some aspect of the research project. Members of the Advisory Committee are also available for consultation concerning problems in situations where the student does not wish to approach their supervisor. If a conflict arises between the supervisor and the student, the supervisor should attempt first to resolve any problems informally with the student. If informal discussion does not lead to a resolution, then the Graduate Chair and advisory committee should be consulted. If this is not successful, then the Dean of Graduate and Postdoctoral Studies will be consulted. Similarly, if the student encounters problems, then he/she should contact the chair of the advisory committee who will advise accordingly.

The Advisory Committee is composed of the Supervisor (and any Co-Supervisor), a Chair, and other faculty members of this or other departments, chosen by the Graduate Chair and the Supervisor. At least one of the other faculty members must be from BMI. The minimum number of members of a M.Sc. Advisory Committee is three. The minimum number of members of a Ph.D. Advisory Committee is four, including at least one member from another, cognate department. Associate and Adjunct members of BMI can also serve as the cognate member. A Supervisor and a Co-Supervisor count as one member in terms of voting. Advisory committee membership is approved by the Graduate Affairs committee. The supervisor/graduate student must submit a brief description (<250 words) of the student's research project to assess the suitability of proposed advisory committee members to the Graduate Affairs committee for consideration.

The Advisory Committees will meet regularly in May of each year to receive the Annual Progress Report from each graduate student. A second shorter meeting will also be required in November. The Advisory Committee may also meet at any other time at the request of the graduate student, the Supervisor, the Chair of the Advisory Committee, or the Chair of the Graduate Program Committee.

#### D. Student/supervisor agreement

The student/supervisor agreement is used to provide a framework for discussion between the supervisor(s) and the graduate student and to establish guidelines to govern their relationship. It may be revisited at any stage of the student's graduate program. The student/supervisor agreement can be found in SharePoint.

#### E. Vacation

Graduate students are entitled to a minimum of 15 days of vacation per year in addition to time off for weekends, regularly scheduled university closures, and statutory holidays. Vacation days do not need to be taken consecutively. Students required to work during regularly scheduled university closures may take additional vacation days at a later date. Vacations should be scheduled at a time that is mutually convenient to the student and supervisor(s).

## 5. Financing graduate school

## A. Sources of funding

Specific policies regarding the student support funding from CGPS and the CoM and the 75<sup>Th</sup> Anniversary Scholarship are described in the Graduate Student Funding Policy for the Department of Biochemistry, Microbiology and Immunology.

Supervisors are responsible for ensuring that each graduate student receives a stipend which meets a minimum departmental standard. As of January 1, 2025, departmental minimums will be \$21,000 per year for M.Sc. students and \$26,000 per year for Ph.D. students. Stipends for both M.Sc. and Ph.D. students will also be increased by another \$2,000 per year both January 2026 and January 2027. **The decision to terminate funding cannot be made unilaterally by the supervisor and requires a meeting of the advisory committee**. In the absence of any scholarships or bursaries, this stipend will usually come from research grants held by the Supervisor. However, it is beneficial for both the student and the Supervisor if some, or all, of the support for the student is derived from scholarships or assistantship funds. Support from extramural sources generally provides a higher stipend than support from intramural (University of Saskatchewan) sources. In particular, a student who receives a scholarship (e.g. CoMGrad, Sask. Innovation or federal funding) will have their minimum stipend increased as described in the Graduate Student Funding Policy. A Ph.D. student awarded a Canada Graduate Scholarship (Doctoral) with an unmatched value of \$35,000 would not receive a top-up from BMI.

Scholarships are subject to the conditions of the award. For example, some scholarships cannot be held simultaneously. Stipends will revert to the base line when the scholarship ends or is terminated.

M.Sc. students holding CGS-M funding will automatically be topped up by \$6,000 (made in two installments) in the first year of their award (Honourary CGPS 75th Anniversary Scholarship). Ph.D. students holding CGS-D and/or PGS-D funding will automatically be topped up by \$7,500 each year they hold Tri-Agency funding (Honourary SIOS Doctoral Scholarship from the Government of Saskatchewan's Innovation & Opportunity Scholarship program). These top ups from CGPS are in addition to those provided by BMI.

## Special case of CSC students.

The CSC Ph.D. scholarship funding (currently \$19,200/annum) requires the supervisor to pay the tuition of the student (in addition to topping up the salary to \$24K as per departmental guidelines). Therefore, CSC students will be excluded from the above top-up stipend policy that is in place for other external scholarships.

## Departmental Assistance.

The Department allocates funding in August, adjudicated by the Graduate Affairs Committee in consultation with the department head. Sources of funding include student support funding from CGPS and the College of Medicine and departmental funds.

## Financial assistance from the College of Medicine.

A limited number of Graduate Teaching Fellowships and Graduate Teaching Assistantships are awarded by the College of Medicine. Applications are submitted through the departmental Graduate Program Affairs Committee.

A limited number of Graduate Research Fellowships are awarded by the College of Medicine. Applications are submitted through the departmental Graduate Program Affairs Committee.

The Arthur Smyth Memorial Scholarship is available through the College of Medicine. These awards are intended for especially meritorious students who are nearing the end of a Ph.D. program. Applications are submitted through the departmental Graduate Program Affairs Committee.

CoMGrad scholarships are awarded annually. Submission dates and application forms will be circulated to students when available.

## Financial assistance available from the College of Graduate and Postdoctoral Studies

The CGPS offers the Dean's Scholarship for especially meritorious students. Preference is given to students entering the first year of a Ph.D. program, although entering M.Sc. students are also eligible. Several application deadlines occur in the first few months of each calendar year. Applications are submitted through the departmental Graduate Program Affairs Committee.

The Saskatchewan Innovation and Opportunity Graduate Scholarship is offered for graduate students conducting research in specific priority areas. Eligible current students will be invited to apply online. The department will also be invited to nominate a restricted number of external applicants each year. <a href="https://www.saskatchewan.ca/residents/education-and-learning/scholarships-bursaries-grants/scholarships/saskatchewan-innovation-and-opportunity-scholarship">https://www.saskatchewan-innovation-and-opportunity-scholarship</a>.

## Financial assistance available from extramural sources

A. National Science and Engineering Research Council (NSERC). Students (Canadian citizens and residents) may apply for M.Sc. or Ph.D. level awards to support their studies. Generally, students must be working in a NSERC-funded laboratory to be eligible for these awards. Application guidelines, materials and instructions are available at: <a href="https://www.nserc-crsng.gc.ca/Students-Etudiants/index eng.asp">https://www.nserc-crsng.gc.ca/Students-Etudiants/index eng.asp</a> (available to Canadian residents only)

B. Canadian Institutes for Health Research (CIHR). Students (Canadian citizens and residents) may apply for M.Sc. or Ph.D. level awards to support their studies. Generally, students must be working in a CIHR- funded laboratory to be eligible for these awards. Application guidelines, materials and instructions are available at (click 'funding opportunities'): <a href="https://cihr-irsc.gc.ca/e/37788.html">https://cihr-irsc.gc.ca/e/37788.html</a> (available to Canadian residents only)

A wide variety of additional intramural and extramural awards are available, most of which are directed towards specific areas of study or particular categories of applicants. Students are strongly encouraged to explore the opportunities available. A comprehensive list of additional scholarship opportunities is maintained by the CGPS at: <a href="https://grad.usask.ca/funding/scholarships.php">https://grad.usask.ca/funding/international-scholarships.php</a>

#### **B.** Travel funds

Saskatoon SK S7N 5E5

Students are encouraged to go to conferences. Approximately \$1500 may be available from the College of Medicine and \$350 (Canadian) or \$550 (international) from the University at least once during the program.

# 6. BMI Graduate Application Checklist Application Form Online at https://grad.usask.ca/admissions/how-to-apply.php Three Recommenders - provide 3 email addresses into the online application Curriculum vitae/résumé Handwritten statement of research interest/research experience \$120 Canadian application fee paid online Required, but sent separately: Sealed, Official versions of all transcripts Official English Test Results Applications are submitted online only: **Graduate Programs** BMI College of Medicine University of Saskatchewan GA20, Health Sciences Building 107 Wiggins Road